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West is pleased to povide you with the revised Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure, which became dctive on
December 1, 2007. This booklet eplaces theFederal
Rules of Civil Procedure booklet published in July 2007.

You can also access theavised Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure on Westlaw by completing the following steps:

1. At the tabbed Law School page, access the Federal
Rules database (US-RULES) by typings-rulesin the
Seach these databasetext box in the left frame.

2. At the database Seath page, typeci(frcp) in the Seach
text box.

3. At the displayed result list, click the title of a rule to
view its full text.

When you know the citation of the rule you want to
retrieve, use the Find serice. For example, to retrieve Fed.
R. Civ. P. 26, type frcp 26 in the Find by citation text box
in the left frame of the tabbed Law School page.
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FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL
PROCEDURE

Rule 1. Scope and Purpose

These wles goven the procedure in all civil actions and
proceedings in the United States district cous, except as
stated in Rule 81. They should be constned and
administered to secue the just, speedyand inexpensive
detemination of every action and proceeding.

Rule 2. One Form of Action
There is one fom of actionNthe civil action.

Rule 3. Commencing an Action
A civil action is commenced by filing a complaint with the
court.

Rule 4. Summons

(a) Contents; Amendments.

(1) Contents. A summons must:

(A) name the cout and the patrties;

(B) be directed to the defendant;

(C) state the name and addess of the plaintif's attor ney
orNif unr epresentedNof the plaintiff;

(D) state the time within which the defendant must appear
and defend;

(E) notify the defendant that a failure to appear and
defend will result in a default judgment against the
defendant for the relief demanded in the complaint;

(F) be signed by the clerk; and

(G) bear the cout's seal.
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2 FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

(2) Amendments. The cout may permit a summons to be
amended.

(b) Issuance. On or after filing the complaint, the plaintiff
may present a summons to the clerk for signatue and seal.
If the summons is poperly completed, the clerk must

sign, seal, and issue it to the plaintif for service on the
defendant. A summonsNor a copy of a summons that is
addressed to multiple defendantsNmust be issued for each
defendant to be seved.

(c) Sewice.

(1) In General. A summons must be sered with a copy of
the complaint. The plaintiff is responsible for having the
summons and complaint seved within the time allowed

by Rule 4(m) and must fumish the necessar copies to the
person who makes sevice.

(2) By Whom. Any person who is at least 18 years old and
not a party may sewve a summons and complaint.

(3) By a Marshal or Someone Specially Appointed. At the
plaintif f's request, the cout may order that sewice be
made by a United States marshal or deputy marshal or by
a person specially appointed by the cour The court must
so order if the plaintif f is authorized to proceed in foma
pauperis under 28 U.S.C. @ 1915 or as a seaman under
28 U.S.C. n 1916.

(d) Waiving Sewice.

(1) Requesting a Wiver. An individual, corporation, or
association that is subject to serice under Rule 4(e), (f), or
(h) has a duty to avoid unnecessar expenses of sefing the
summons. The plaintiff may notify such a defendant that
an action has been commenced andeguest that the
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defendant waive sevice of a summons. The notice and
request must:

(A) be in writing and be addressed:

(i) to the individual defendant; or

(i) for a defendant subject to sewice under Rule 4(h), to
an officer, a managing or general agent, or any other agent
authorized by appointment or by law to r eceive sevice of
process;

(B) name the cout where the complaint was filed;

(C) be accompanied by a copy of the complaint, two
copies of a waiver form, and a prepaid means for
returning the form;

(D) infor m the defendant, using text pescribed in Fom 5,
of the consequences of waiving and not waiving sefice;
(E) state the date when the equest is sent;

(F) give the defendant a easonable time of at least 30 days
after the request was sentNor at least 60 days if sent to
the defendant outside any judicial district of the United
StatesNto return the waiver; and

(G) be sent by first-class mail or other eliable means.

(2) Failure to Waive. If a defendant located within the
United States fails, without good cause, to sign andeturn
a waiver requested by a plaintif located within the United
States, the coutr must impose on the defendant:

(A) the expenses later incured in making sewice; and

(B) the reasonable expenses, including attoey's fees, of
any motion required to collect those sevice expenses.

(3) Time to Answer After a Waiver. A defendant who,
before being seved with process, timely eturns a waiver
need not seve an answer to the complaint until 60 days
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4 FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

after the request was sentNor until 90 days after it was
sent to the defendant outside any judicial district of the
United States.

(4) Results of Filing a Waiver. When the plaintiff files a
waiver, proof of service is not required and these ules
apply as if a summons and complaint had been seed at
the time of filing the waiver.

(5) Jurisdiction and Venue Not Waived. Waiving sewice

of a summons does not waive any objection to personal
jurisdiction or to venue.

(e) Seving an Individual Within a Judicial District of the
United States. Unless federal law pvides othemwise, an
individualNother than a minor , an incompetent person, or
a person whose waiver has been filedNmay be sged in a
judicial district of the United States by:

(1) following state law for serving a summons in an action
brought in courts of general jurisdiction in the state whee
the district court is located or where sewice is made; or
(2) doing any of the following:

(A) delivering a copy of the summons and of the
complaint to the individual personally;

(B) leaving a copy of each at the individual's dwelling or
usual place of abode with someone of suitable age and
discretion who resides thee; or

(C) delivering a copy of each to an agent authorized by
appointment or by law to r eceive serice of process.

(f) Sewving an Individual in a Foreign Country. Unless
federal law provides othemise, an individualNother than
a minor, an incompetent person, or a person whose waiver
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has been filedNimay be seved at a place not within any
judicial district of the United States:

(1) by any internationally agreed means of seice that

is reasonably calculated to give notice, such as those
authorized by the Hague Convention on the Serice
Abroad of Judicial and Extrajudicial Documents;

(2) if there is no intemationally agreed means, or if

an international agreement allows but does not specify
other means, by a method that is easonably calculated
to give notice:

(A) as prescribed by the foeign country's law for service
in that country in an action in its courts of general
jurisdiction;

(B) as the foreign authority dir ects in response to a letter
rogatory or letter of request; or

(C) unless pohibited by the foreign country® law, by:

(i) delivering a copy of the summons and of the complaint
to the individual personally; or

(i) using any form of mail that the clerk addresses and
sends to the individual and that requires a signed eceipt;
or

(3) by other means not piohibited by inter national
agreement, as the courorders.

(g) Sewing a Minor or an Incompetent Person. A minor or
an incompetent person in a judicial district of the United
States must be sered by following state law for serving a
summons or like process on such a defendant in an action
brought in the courts of general jurisdiction of the state
where sevwice is made. A minor or an incompetent person

FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE
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6 FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

who is not within any judicial district of the United States
must be seved in the manner prescribed by Rule
4H2)A), H)®B), or N(3).

(h) Sewing a Corporation, Partnership, or Association.
Unless federal law povides othewise or the defendant®
waiver has been filed, a domestic or foeign corporation,
or a partnership or other unincorporated association that
is subject to suit under a common name, must be seed:
(1) in a judicial district of the United States:

(A) in the manner prescribed by Rule 4(e)(1) for sering an
individual; or

(B) by delivering a copy of the summons and of the
complaint to an officer, a managing or general agent, or
any other agent authorized by appointment or by law to
receive sevice of process andNif the agent is one
authorized by statute and the statute so equiresNby also
mailing a copy of each to the defendant; or

(2) at a place not within any judicial district of the United
States, in any manner pescribed by Rule 4(f) for seving
an individual, except personal delivey under (f)(2)(C)(i).
(i) Sewving the United States and Its Agencies,
Corporations, Officers, or Employees.

(1) United States. D sewe the United States, a pay must:
(A)(i) deliver a copy of the summons and of the complaint
to the United States attoney for the district where the
action is broughtNor to an assistant United States
attorney or clerical employee whom the United States
attorney designates in a writing filed with the coutt
clerkNor
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(i) send a copy of each by egisteed or cetified mail to
the civil-process clerk at the United States attorey® office;
(B) send a copy of each byegisteed or cetified mail to
the Attor ney General of the United States at \&shington,
D.C.; and

(C) if the action challenges an oder of a nonparty agency
or officer of the United States, send a copy of each by
registeed or cettified mail to the agency or officer.

(2) Agency; Corporation; Officer or Employee Sued in an
Official Capacity. To sewe a United States agency or
corporation, or a United States oficer or employee sued
only in an official capacity, a party must sewe the United
States and also send a copy of the summons and of the
complaint by registeed or cetified mail to the agency,
corporation, officer, or employee.

(3) Officer or Employee Sued Individually To sewve a
United States oficer or employee sued in an individual
capacity for an act or omission occuring in connection
with duties performed on the United StatesO behalf
(whether or not the officer or employee is also sued in
an official capacity), a party must sewe the United States
and also seve the officer or employee under Rule 4(e),
(®, or (9).

(4) Extending Time. The court must allow a party a
reasonable time to cue its failure to:

(A) serve a person equired to be seved under Rule 4(i)(2),
if the party has sewed either the United States attaney or
the Attor ney General of the United States; or

(B) sere the United States under Rule 4(i)(3), if the pay
has seved the United States dicer or employee.
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8 FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

(j) Sewing a Foreign, State, or Local Govenment.

(1) Foreign State. A forign state or its political
subdivision, agency or instrumentality must be sewved in
accordance with 28 U.S.C. o 1608.

(2) State or Local Govenment. A state, a municipal
corporation, or any other state-created govenmental
organization that is subject to suit must be sered by:

(A) delivering a copy of the summons and of the
complaint to its chief executive officer; or

(B) sewing a copy of each in the manner pescribed by
that state®law for sewing a summons or like process on
such a defendant.

(k) Territorial Limits of Ef fective Sevice.

(1) In General. Seving a summons or filing a waiver of
sewice establishes personal jurisdiction over a defendant:
(A) who is subject to the jurisdiction of a court of general
jurisdiction in the state where the district court is located;
(B) who is a party joined under Rule 14 or 19 and is
sewved within a judicial district of the United States and
not more than 100 miles from where the summons was
issued; or

(C) when authorized by a federal statute.

(2) Federal Claim Outside State-Cout Jurisdiction. For a
claim that arises under federal law sewing a summons or
filing a waiver of service establishes personal jurisdiction
over a defendant if:

(A) the defendant is not subject to jurisdiction in any
state®courts of general jurisdiction; and

(B) exerising jurisdiction is consistent with the United
States Constitution and laws.
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() Proving Sewice.

(1) Affidavit Required. Unless serice is waived, proof of
sewvice must be made to the cour. Except for sewvice by a
United States marshal or deputy marshal, ppof must be
by the sewver® afiidavit.

(2) Sewice Outside the United States. Serce not within
any judicial district of the United States must be poved as
follows:

(A) if made under Rule 4(f)(1), as piovided in the
applicable treaty or convention; or

(B) if made under Rule 4(f)(2) or (f)(3), by a receipt signed
by the addressee, or by other evidence satisfying the caur
that the summons and complaint wee delivered to the
addressee.

(3) Validity of Service; Amending Poof. Failure to prove
sewice does not afect the validity of service. The coutt
may pemit proof of service to be amended.

(m) Time Limit for Service. If a defendant is not seved
within 120 days after the complaint is filed, the courtNon
motion or on its own after notice to the plaintif fmust
dismiss the action without prejudice against that defendant
or order that sewvice be made within a specified time. But
if the plaintif f shows good cause for the failue, the court
must extend the time for sewice for an appropriate period.
This subdivision (m) does not apply to sevice in a foreign
country under Rule 4(f) or 4(j)(1).

(n) Asseting Jurisdiction over Property or Assets.

(1) Federal Law The court may asset jurisdiction over
property if authorized by a federal statute. Notice to
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10 FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

claimants of the property must be given as povided in the
statute or by serving a summons under this ule.

(2) State Law On a showing that personal jurisdiction
over a defendant cannot be obtained in the district whee
the action is brought by reasonable dbrts to sewve a
summons under this ule, the court may asset jurisdiction
over the defendant©assets found in the district.
Jurisdiction is acquired by seizing the assets under the
circumstances and in the manner mvided by state law

in that district.

Rule 4.1 Serving Other Pr ocess

(@) In General. PocessNother than a summons under
Rule 4 or a subpoena under Rule 45Nmust be sered by

a United States marshal or deputy marshal or by a person
specially appointed for that purpose. It may be seved
anywhere within the territorial limits of the state wher e
the district court is located and, if authorized by a federal
statute, beyond those limits. Poof of service must be made
under Rule 4(]).

(b) Enforcing Orders: Committing for Civil Contempt. An
order committing a person for civil contempt of a decree
or injunction issued to enforce federal law may be sered
and enforced in any district. Any other order in a civil-
contempt proceeding may be sered only in the state
where the issuing cout is located or elsewhee in the
United States within 100 miles from where the order

was issued.



FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDUREL1

Rule 5. Serving and Filing Pleadings and
Other Papers

(a) Sewice: When Required.

(1) In General. Unless theseules provide otherwise, each
of the following papers must be seved on evey party:

(A) an order stating that sewice is required;

(B) a pleading filed after the original complaint, unless the
court orders othewise under Rule 5(c) because therare
numerous defendants;

(C) a discovew paper required to be seved on a paty,
unless the cout orders othemwise;

(D) a written motion, except one that may be head ex
parte; and

(E) a written notice, appearance, demand, or der of
judgment, or any similar paper

(2) If a Party Fails to Appear. No service is required on a
party who is in default for failing to appear. But a pleading
that assets a new claim for relief against such a paty
must be seved on that party under Rule 4.

(3) Seizing Poperty. If an action is begun by seizing
property and no person is or need be named as a
defendant, any sevice required before the filing of an
appearance, answeror claim must be made on the person
who had custody or possession of the poperty when it
was seized.

(b) Sewice: How Made.

(1) Sewing an Attor ney. If a party is represented by an
attorney, sewice under this ule must be made on the
attorney unless the courorders sevice on the paty.

(2) Sewice in General. A paper is sered under this rule by:
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12  FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

(A) handing it to the person;

(B) leaving it:

(i) at the person®office with a clerk or other person in
charge or, if no one is in charge, in a conspicuous place in
the office; or

(ii) if the person has no office or the office is closed, at the
person®dwelling or usual place of abode with someone of
suitable age and discetion who resides thee;

(C) mailing it to the person® last known addressNin
which event sewice is complete upon mailing;

(D) leaving it with the court clerk if the person has no
known address;

(E) sending it by electonic means if the person consented
in writingNiin which event ser vice is complete upon
transmission, but is not efective if the sewing party learns
that it did not r each the person to be seed; or

(F) delivering it by any other means that the person
consented to in writingNin which event service is
complete when the person making seiice delivers it to the
agency designated to make delivgr

(3) Using Court Facilities. If a local rule so authorizes, a
party may use the cout® transmission facilities to make
sewice under Rule 5(b)(2)(E).

(c) Sewving Numerous Defendants.

(1) In General. If an action involves an unusually lage
number of defendants, the cout may, on motion or on its
own, order that:

(A) defendantsd pleadings anaplies to them need not be
sewed on other defendants;
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(B) any crossclaim, counteclaim, avoidance, or afir mative
defense in those pleadings andeplies to them will be
treated as denied or avoided by all other pares; and

(C) filing any such pleading and seving it on the plaintif
constitutes notice of the pleading to all paties.

(2) Notifying Parties. A copy of evey such order must be
sewved on the paties as the cout dir ects.

(d) Filing.

(1) Required Filings; Cetificate of Sewice. Any paper after
the complaint that is required to be sevedNtogether with
a cetificate of serviceNmust be filed within a r easonable
time after sewice. But disclosues under Rule 26(a)(1) or
(2) and the following discovery requests and esponses
must not be filed until they are used in the poceeding or
the court orders filing: depositions, interogatories,
requests for documents or tangible things or to pamit
entry onto land, and requests for admission.

(2) How Filing Is MadeNIn General. A paper is filed by
delivering it:

(A) to the clerk; or

(B) to a judge who agees to accept it for filing, and who
must then note the filing date on the paper and pomptly
send it to the clerk.

(3) Electronic Filing, Signing, or Verification. A court may;,
by local rule, allow papers to be filed, signed, or verified
by electronic means that ae consistent with any technical
standards established by the Judicial Confegnce of the
United States. A local ule may require electonic filing
only if r easonable exceptions a allowed. A paper filed
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14  FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

electronically in compliance with a local rule is a written
paper for purposes of these ules.

(4) Acceptance by the Clerk. The clerk must not efuse to
file a paper solely because it is not in the fam prescribed
by these ules or by a local rle or practice.

Rule 5.1 Constitutional Challenge to a StatuteN
Notice, Certification, and Intervention

(a) Notice by a Paty. A party that files a pleading,
written motion, or other paper drawing into question

the constitutionality of a federal or state statute must
promptly:

(1) file a notice of constitutional question stating the
question and identifying the paper that raises i, if:

(A) a federal statute is questioned and the pdies do

not include the United States, one of its agencies, or
one of its officers or employees in an diicial capacity; or
(B) a state statute is questioned and the pées do not
include the state, one of its agencies, or one of its &ters
or employees in an oficial capacity; and

(2) sewe the notice and paper on the Attoney General of
the United States if a federal statute is questionedNor on
the state attomey general if a state statute is questionedNl
either by cettified or r egisteled mail or by sending it to an
electronic address designated by the attarey general for
this purpose.

(b) Certification by the Cour t. The court must, under 28
U.S.C. @ 2403, cetify to the appr opriate attorney general
that a statute has been questioned.
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(c) Intervention; Final Decision on the Merits. Unless
the court sets a later time, the attoney general may
intervene within 60 days after the notice is filed or
after the court certifies the challenge, whichever is
earlier. Before the time to intervene expires, the cout
may reject the constitutional challenge, but may not
enter a final judgment holding the statute
unconstitutional.

(d) No Forfeiture. A party@® failure to file and sewe the
notice, or the cour® failure to cettify, does not forfeit
a constitutional claim or defense that is othewise
timely asseted.

FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

n

Rule 5.2 Privacy Protection for Filings Made with
the Court

(a) Redacted Filings. Unless the cotiorders othemwise,
in an electronic or paper filing with the cour t that
contains an individual® social-security number
taxpayeridentification number, or birth date, the name
of an individual known to be a minor, or a financial-
account number a party or nonparty making the filing
may include only:

(1) the last four digits of the social-security number
and taxpayeridentification number;

(2) the year of the individual® birth;

() the minor® initials; and

(4) the last four digits of the financial-account number
(b) Exemptions from the Redaction Requiement. The
redaction requirement does not apply to the following:
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16 FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

(1) a financial-account number that identifies the poperty
allegedly subject to forfeiture in a forfeiture proceeding;
(2) the record of an administrative or agency pioceeding;
(3) the official record of a state-coutt proceeding;

(4) the record of a court or tribunal, if that r ecord was not
subject to the redaction requirement when originally filed;
(5) a filing covered by Rule 5.2(c) or (d); and

(6) a pro se filing in an action brought under 28 U.S.C. oa
2241, 2254, or 2255.

(c) Limitations on Remote Access to Eleconic Files;
Social-Security Appeals and Immigration Cases. Unless the
court orders othemwise, in an action for benefits under the
Social Security Act, and in an action or poceeding elating
to an order of removal, to relief from removal, or to
immigration benefits or detention, access to an electmic
file is authorized as follows:

(1) the parties and their attorneys may have emote
electronic access to any parof the case file, including the
administrative record;

(2) any other person may have electinic access to the full
record at the courthouse, but may have emote electonic
access only to:

(A) the docket maintained by the cout; and

(B) an opinion, order, judgment, or other disposition of the
court, but not any other part of the case file or the
administrative record.

(d) Filings Made Under Seal. The courmay order that a
filing be made under seal without redaction. The coutt
may later unseal the filing or order the person who made
the filing to file a r edacted version for the public ecord.
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(e) Potective Orders. For good cause, the courmay by
order in a case:

(1) require redaction of additional infor mation; or

(2) limit or pr ohibit a nonparty® remote electonic access
to a document filed with the court.

(f) Option for Additional Unr edacted Filing Under Seal.
A person making a redacted filing may also file an
unredacted copy under seal. The cotimust retain the
unredacted copy as parof the record.

(g) Option for Filing a Reference List. A filing that
contains redacted information may be filed together

with a reference list that identifies each item of edacted
infor mation and specifies an appopriate identifier that
uniquely corresponds to each item listed. The list must be
filed under seal and may be amended as of right. Any
reference in the case to a listed identifier will be constied
to refer to the coresponding item of information.

(h) Waiver of Protection of Identifiers. A person waives
the protection of Rule 5.2(a) as to the persor€own

infor mation by filing it without r edaction and not

under seal.

Rule 6. Computing and Extending Time; Time for
Motion Papers

(a) Computing Time. The following rules apply in
computing any time period specified in these ules or in
any local rule, court order, or statute:

(1) Day of the Event Excluded. Exclude the day of the act,
event, or default that begins the period.

FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE
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18 FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

(2) Exclusions from Brief Periods. Exclude intemediate
Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays when the period is
less than 11 days.

(3) Last Day. Include the last day of the period unless it is
a Satuday, Sunday legal holiday, orNif the act to be done
is filing a paper in courtNa day on which weather or

other conditions make the clerk®office inaccessible. When
the last day is excluded, the period uns until the end of
the next day that is not a Satuday, Sunday legal holiday,
or day when the clerk®office is inaccessible.

(4) OLegal HolidayO Defined. As used in thesailes, Olegal
holidayO® means:

(A) the day set aside by statute for obsering New YearOs
Day, Martin Luther King Jr.® Birthday, Washington®
Birthday, Memorial Day, Independence DayLabor Day,
Columbus Day, Veterans® Dayrhanksgiving Day, or
Christmas Day; and

(B) any other day declaed a holiday by the Pesident,
Congress, or the state whee the district court is located.
(b) Extending Time.

(1) In General. When an act may or must be done within a
specified time, the cout may, for good cause, extend the
time:

(A) with or without motion or notice if the cour t acts, or if
a request is made, befae the original time or its extension
expires; or

(B) on motion made after the time has expied if the party
failed to act because of excusable neglect.
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(2) Exceptions. A court must not extend the time to act
under Rules 50(b) and (d), 52(b), 59(b), (d), and (e), and
60(b), except as those ules allow.

(c) Motions, Notices of Hearing, and Affidavits.

(1) In General. A written motion and notice of the hearing
must be seved at least 5 days befoe the time specified for
the hearing, with the following exceptions:

(A) when the motion may be head ex parte;

(B) when these ules set a diferent time; or

(C) when a court orderNwhich a par ty may, for good
cause, apply for ex pateNsets a different time.

(2) Supporting Affidavit. Any af fidavit supporting a
motion must be seved with the motion. Except as Rule
59(c) provides othemise, any opposing afidavit must be
sewved at least 1 day befoe the hearing, unless the cour
permits sewice at another time.

(d) Additional T ime After Certain Kinds of Sewvice. When
a party may or must act within a specified time after
sewice and sevice is made under Rule 5(b)(2)(C), (D), (E),
or (F), 3 days ar added after the period would othemwise
expire under Rule 6(a).

Rule 7. Pleadings Allowed; Form of Motions and
Other Papers

(a) Pleadings. Only these pleadings arallowed:
(1) a complaint;

(2) an answer to a complaint;

(3) an answer to a counteclaim designated as a
counterclaim;

(4) an answer to a cossclaim;
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20 FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

(5) a third-party complaint;

(6) an answer to a third-party complaint; and

(7) if the court orders one, a eply to an answer

(b) Motions and Other Papers.

(1) In General. A request for a cout order must be made
by motion. The motion must:

(A) be in writing unless made during a hearing or trial;
(B) state with particularity the grounds for seeking the
order; and

(C) state the relief sought.

(2) Form. The rules govening captions and other matters
of form in pleadings apply to motions and other papers.

Rule 7.1. Disclosure Statement

(a) Who Must File; Contents. A nongovemmental
corporate party must file two copies of a disclosure
statement that:

(1) identifies any parent corporation and any publicly held
corporation owning 10% or mor e of its stock; or

(2) states that thee is no such corporation.

(b) Time to File; Supplemental Filing. A paty must:

(1) file the disclosure statement with its first appearance,
pleading, petition, motion, response, or other equest
addressed to the cour; and

(2) promptly file a supplemental statement if any equired
infor mation changes.

Rule 8. General Rules of Pleading
(a) Claim for Relief. A pleading that states a claim for
relief must contain:
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(1) a short and plain statement of the grounds for the
court® jurisdiction, unless the cout already has
jurisdiction and the claim needs no new jurisdictional
support;

(2) a short and plain statement of the claim showing that
the pleader is entitled to elief; and

(3) a demand for the relief sought, which may include
relief in the altemative or different types of relief.

(b) Defenses; Admissions and Denials.

(1) In General. In responding to a pleading, a paty must:
(A) state in short and plain terms its defenses to each claim
asseted against it; and

(B) admit or deny the allegations asse¢ed against it by an
opposing patty.

(2) DenialsNResponding to the Substance. A denial must
fairly r espond to the substance of the allegation.

(3) General and Specific Denials. A pay that intends in
good faith to deny all the allegations of a pleadingN
including the jurisdictional gr oundsNimay do so by a
general denial. A paty that does not intend to deny all the
allegations must either specifically deny designated
allegations or generally deny all except those specifically
admitted.

(4) Denying Patt of an Allegation. A party that intends in
good faith to deny only part of an allegation must admit
the part that is true and deny the est.

(5) Lacking Knowledge or Information. A party that lacks
knowledge or information sufficient to for m a belief about
the truth of an allegation must so state, and the statement
has the efect of a denial.
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22  FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

(6) Effect of Failing to Deny. An allegationNother than
one relating to the amount of damagesNis admitted if a
responsive pleading isequired and the allegation is not
denied. If a responsive pleading is notequired, an
allegation is consideed denied or avoided.

(c) Affir mative Defenses.

(1) In General. In responding to a pleading, a paty must
affirmatively state any avoidance or dfir mative defense,
including:

¥ accod and satisfaction;

¥ arbitration and award,;

¥ assumption of risk;

¥ contributory negligence;

¥ dischaige in bankruptcy;

¥ duress;

¥ estoppel;

¥ failure of consideration;

¥ fraud;

¥ illegality;

¥ injury by fellow servant;

¥ laches;

¥ license;

¥ payment;

¥ release;

¥ res judicata;

¥ statute of frauds;

¥ statute of limitations; and

¥ waiver.

(2) Mistaken Designation. If a party mistakenly designates
a defense as a countetaim, or a counterclaim as a
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defense, the courmust, if justice requires, treat the
pleading as though it were correctly designated, and may
impose tems for doing so.

(d) Pleading to Be Concise and Diect; Alternative
Statements; Inconsistency

(1) In General. Each allegation must be simple, concise,
and direct. No technical form is required.

(2) Alternative Statements of a Claim or Defense. A pdy
may set out 2 or more statements of a claim or defense
alternatively or hypothetically, either in a single count or
defense or in separate ones. If a p&y makes altenative
statements, the pleading is stiitient if any one of them is
sufficient.

(3) Inconsistent Claims or Defenses. A pdy may state as
many separate claims or defenses as it haggadless of
consistency

(e) Construing Pleadings. Pleadings must be consted so
as to do justice.

Rule 9. Pleading Special Matters

(a) Capacity or Authority to Sue; Legal Existence.

(1) In General. Except when equired to show that the
court has jurisdiction, a pleading need not allege:

(A) a party® capacity to sue or be sued;

(B) a party® authority to sue or be sued in a epresentative
capacity; or

(C) the legal existence of an oganized association of
persons that is made a pay.

(2) Raising Those Issues. @ raise any of those issues, a
party must do so by a specific denial, which must state any
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24  FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

supporting facts that are peculiarly within the party®
knowledge.

(b) Fraud or Mistake; Conditions of Mind. In alleging
fraud or mistake, a party must state with particularity

the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake. Malice,
intent, knowledge, and other conditions of a person®mind
may be alleged generally

(c) Conditions Precedent. In pleading conditions pecedent,
it suffices to allege generally that all conditions pecedent
have occured or been peformed. But when denying that
a condition precedent has occued or been peformed, a
party must do so with particularity .

(d) Official Document or Act. In pleading an official
document or official act, it suffices to allege that the
document was legally issued or the act legally done.

(e) Judgment. In pleading a judgment or decision of a
domestic or foreign court, a judicial or quasi-judicial
tribunal, or a boar d or officer, it suffices to plead the
judgment or decision without showing jurisdiction to
render it.

(f) Time and Place. An allegation of time or place is
material when testing the suficiency of a pleading.

(g) Special Damages. If an item of special damage is
claimed, it must be specifically stated.

(h) Admiralty or Maritime Claim.

(1) How Designated. If a claim for relief is within the
admiralty or maritime jurisdiction and also within the
court® subject-matter jurisdiction on some other gound,
the pleading may designate the claim as an admiralty or
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maritime claim for purposes of Rules 14(c), 38(e), and 82
and the Supplemental Rules for Admiralty or Maritime
Claims and Asset Fofeiture Actions. A claim cognizable
only in the admiralty or maritime jurisdiction is an
admiralty or maritime claim for those purposes, whether
or not so designated.

(2) Designation for Appeal. A case that includes an
admiralty or maritime claim within this subdivision (h) is
an admiralty case within 28 U.S.C. @ 1292(a)(3).

Rule 10. Form of Pleadings

(a) Caption; Names of Paties. Evey pleading must have a
caption with the court® name, a title, a file numbeyand

a Rule 7(a) designation. The title of the complaint must
name all the patties; the title of other pleadings, after
naming the first party on each side, may efer generally

to other parties.

(b) Paragraphs; Separate Statements. A ggrmust state its
claims or defenses in numbezd paragraphs, each limited
as far as practicable to a single set of caumstances. A
later pleading may refer by number to a paragraph in an
earlier pleading. If doing so would promote clarity, each
claim founded on a separate transaction or occurenceN
and each defense other than a denialNmust be stated in a
separate count or defense.

(c) Adoption by Reference; Exhibits. A statement in a
pleading may be adopted by eference elsewhes in the
same pleading or in any other pleading or motion. A copy
of a written instr ument that is an exhibit to a pleading is a
part of the pleading for all purposes.
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Rule 11. Signing Pleadings, Motions, and Other
Papers; Representations to the Court; Sanctions

(a) Signature. Ever pleading, written motion, and other
paper must be signed by at least one attorey of record in
the attorney®nameNor by a party personally if the party
is unrepresented. The paper must state the sign@raddress,
e-mail address, and telephone numbetJnless a ule or
statute specifically states othewise, a pleading need not be
verified or accompanied by an afidavit. The court must
strike an unsigned paper unless the omission is pmptly
corrected after being called to the attoney® or party®
attention.

(b) Representations to the Cout. By presenting to the
court a pleading, written motion, or other paperNwhether
by signing, filing, submitting, or later advocating itNan
attorney or unrepresented paty certifies that to the best of
the person®knowledge, information, and belief, formed
after an inquiry reasonable under the cicumstances:

(1) it is not being presented for any impioper purpose,
such as to harass, cause unnecesgatelay, or needlessly
increase the cost of litigation;

(2) the claims, defenses, and other legal contentions er
warranted by existing law or by a nonfrivolous argument
for extending, modifying, or r eversing existing law or for
establishing new law;

(3) the factual contentions have evidentiay support or,

if specifically so identified, will likely have evidentiary
support after a reasonable oppotunity for fur ther
investigation or discovery; and
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(4) the denials of factual contentions ae warranted on the
evidence o if specifically so identified, are reasonably
based on belief or a lack of infomation.

(c) Sanctions.

(1) In General. If, after notice and a reasonable
opportunity to r espond, the cout determines that Rule
11(b) has been violated, the courmay impose an
appropriate sanction on any attomey, law fir m, or party
that violated the rule or is responsible for the violation.
Absent exceptional cicumstances, a law fim must be held
jointly r esponsible for a violation committed by its partner,
associate, or employee.

(2) Motion for Sanctions. A motion for sanctions must be
made separately fom any other motion and must describe
the specific conduct that allegedly violates Rule 11(b). The
motion must be seved under Rule 5, but it must not be
filed or be presented to the cour if the challenged paper
claim, defense, contention, or denial is withdrawn or
appropriately corrected within 21 days after sevice or
within another time the court sets. If warranted, the

court may award to the prevailing party the reasonable
expenses, including attoney®fees, incured for the
motion.

(3) On the Court@ Initiative. On its own, the court may
order an attorney; law fir m, or party to show cause why
conduct specifically described in the oder has not violated
Rule 11(b).

(4) Nature of a Sanction. A sanction imposed under this
rule must be limited to what suffices to deter repetition of
the conduct or comparable conduct by others similarly
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28 FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

situated. The sanction may include nonmonetay
directives; an oder to pay a penalty into court; or, if
imposed on motion and warranted for effective deterence,
an order directing payment to the movant of pat or all of
the reasonable attoney®fees and other expenses dictly
resulting from the violation.

(5) Limitations on Monetar y Sanctions. The cout must
not impose a monetar sanction:

(A) against a represented paty for violating Rule 11(b)(2);
or

(B) on its own, unless it issued the show-cause der under
Rule 11(c)(3) before voluntary dismissal or settlement of
the claims made by or against the pay that is, or whose
attorneys ae, to be sanctioned.

(6) Requirements for an Order. An order imposing a
sanction must describe the sanctioned conduct and explain
the basis for the sanction.

(d) Inapplicability to Discovery. This rule does not

apply to disclosures and discovey requests, esponses,
objections, and motions under Rules 26 though 37.

Rule 12. Defenses and Objections: When and

How Presented; Motion for Judgment on the
Pleadings; Consolidating Motions; W  aiving
Defenses; Pretrial Hearing

(a) Time to Serve a Responsive Pleading.

(1) In General. Unless another time is specified by this
rule or a federal statute, the time for seving a responsive
pleading is as follows:

(A) A defendant must seve an answer:
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(i) within 20 days after being sewved with the summons
and complaint; or

(ii) if it has timely waived service under Rule 4(d), within
60 days after the request for a waiver was sent, or within
90 days after it was sent to the defendant outside any
judicial district of the United States.

(B) A party must seive an answer to a counteclaim or
crossclaim within 20 days after being seved with the
pleading that states the counteclaim or crossclaim.

(C) A party must sewve a reply to an answer within 20
days after being seved with an order to reply, unless the
order specifies a diferent time.

(2) United States and Its Agencies, Gicers, or Employees
Sued in an Oficial Capacity. The United States, a United
States agencyor a United States oficer or employee sued
only in an official capacity must sewve an answer to a
complaint, counterclaim, or crossclaim within 60 days
after sewvice on the United States attoney.

(3) United States Oficers or Employees Sued in an
Individual Capacity. A United States oficer or employee
sued in an individual capacity for an act or omission
occurring in connection with duties performed on the
United States® behalf must ser an answer to a complaint,
counterclaim, or crossclaim within 60 days after sevice on
the officer or employee or sevice on the United States
attorney, whichever is later

(4) Effect of a Motion. Unless the coutt sets a diferent
time, sewing a motion under this rule alters these periods
as follows:
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30 FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

(A) if the court denies the motion or postpones its
disposition until trial, the r esponsive pleading must be
sewved within 10 days after notice of the court® action; or
(B) if the court grants a motion for a more definite
statement, the esponsive pleading must be seed within
10 days after the more definite statement is sered.

(b) How to Present Defenses. Evgrdefense to a claim for
relief in any pleading must be asséed in the responsive
pleading if one is required. But a paty may asset the
following defenses by motion:

(1) lack of subject-matter jurisdiction;

(2) lack of personal jurisdiction;

(3) improper venue;

(4) insufficient process;

(5) insufficient sewice of process;

(6) failur e to state a claim upon which elief can be
granted; and

(7) failur e to join a party under Rule 19.

A motion assetting any of these defenses must be made
before pleading if a responsive pleading is allowed. If a
pleading sets out a claim for elief that does not require a
responsive pleading, an opposing pdy may asset at trial
any defense to that claim. No defense or objection is
waived by joining it with one or mor e other defenses or
objections in a responsive pleading or in a motion.

(c) Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. After the
pleadings ae closedNbut early enough not to delay trialN
a party may move for judgment on the pleadings.

(d) Result of Presenting Matters Outside the Pleadings. If,
on a motion under Rule 12(b)(6) or 12(c), matters outside
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the pleadings ae presented to and not excluded by the
court, the motion must be treated as one for summay
judgment under Rule 56. All parties must be given a
reasonable oppotunity to pr esent all the material that is
pertinent to the motion.

(e) Motion for a Mor e Definite Statement. A paty may
move for a more definite statement of a pleading to which
a responsive pleading is allowed but which is so vague or
ambiguous that the patty cannot reasonably pepare a
response. The motion must be made beferfiling a
responsive pleading and must point out the defects
complained of and the details desied. If the court orders a
more definite statement and the oder is not obeyed within
10 days after notice of the oder or within the time the
court sets, the cout may strike the pleading or issue any
other appropriate order.

(f) Motion to Strike. The cour t may strike from a pleading
an insufficient defense or any edundant, immaterial,
impertinent, or scandalous matter The court may act:

(1) on its own; or

(2) on motion made by a party either before responding
to the pleading or, if a response is not allowed, within 20
days after being seved with the pleading.

(g) Joining Motions.

(1) Right to Join. A motion under this r ule may be joined
with any other motion allowed by this r ule.

(2) Limitation on Fur ther Motions. Except as provided in
Rule 12(h)(2) or (3), a party that makes a motion under
this rule must not make another motion under this le
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raising a defense or objection that was available to the
party but omitted fr om its earlier motion.

(h) Waiving and Presering Certain Defenses.

(1) When Some Ae Waived. A party waives any defense
listed in Rule 12(b)(2)-(5) by:

(A) omitting it fr om a motion in the circumstances
described in Rule 12(g)(2); or

(B) failing to either:

(i) make it by motion under this rule; or

(ii) include it in a r esponsive pleading or in an amendment
allowed by Rule 15(a)(1) as a matter of course.

(2) When to Raise Others. Failue to state a claim upon
which relief can be granted, to join a person equired by
Rule 19(b), or to state a legal defense to a claim may be
raised:

(A) in any pleading allowed or ordered under Rule 7(a);
(B) by a motion under Rule 12(c); or

(C) at trial.

(3) Lack of Subject-Matter Jurisdiction. If the court
detemines at any time that it lacks subject-matter
jurisdiction, the court must dismiss the action.

(i) Hearing Before Trial. If a party so moves, any defense
listed in Rule 12(b)(1)-(7)Nwhether made in a pleading or
by motionNand a motion under Rule 12(c) must be heard
and decided befoe trial unless the cout orders a deferal
until trial.

Rule 13. Counter claim and Crossclaim
(a) Compulsory Counterclaim.
(1) In General. A pleading must state as a count@taim
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any claim thatNat the time of its serviceNthe pleader has
against an opposing paty if the claim:

(A) arises out of the transaction or occurence that is the
subject matter of the opposing paty® claim; and

(B) does not require adding another paty over whom the
court cannot acquire jurisdiction.

(2) Exceptions. The pleader need not state the claim if:
(A) when the action was commenced, the claim was the
subject of another pending action; or

(B) the opposing paty sued on its claim by attachment or
other process that did not establish personal jurisdiction
over the pleader on that claim, and the pleader does not
asset any counterclaim under this rule.

(b) Pemissive Counteclaim. A pleading may state as a
counterclaim against an opposing paty any claim that is
not compulsory.

(c) Relief Sought in a Counteclaim. A counterclaim need
not diminish or defeat the recover sought by the opposing
party. It may request elief that exceeds in amount or
differs in kind from the relief sought by the opposing
party.

(d) Counterclaim Against the United States. Theseules do
not expand the right to asset a counterclaimNor to claim
a creditNagainst the United States or a United States
officer or agency

(e) Counterclaim Maturing or Acquir ed After Pleading.
The court may permit a party to file a supplemental
pleading asseting a counterclaim that matured or was
acquired by the party after sewving an earlier pleading.
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(f) Omitted Counter claim. The court may permit a party

to amend a pleading to add a counteclaim if it was
omitted thr ough oversight, inadvetence, or excusable
neglect or if justice so equires.

(g) Crossclaim Against a Copaty. A pleading may state as
a crossclaim any claim by one paty against a copaty if
the claim arises out of the transaction or occurence

that is the subject matter of the original action or of a
counterclaim, or if the claim relates to any poperty that is
the subject matter of the original action. The ciossclaim
may include a claim that the copaty is or may be liable to
the cross-claimant for all or part of a claim asseted in the
action against the cioss-claimant.

(h) Joining Additional Parties. Rules 19 and 20 goven

the addition of a person as a paty to a counterclaim or
crossclaim.

(i) Separate Tials; Separate Judgments. If the courorders
separate trials under Rule 42(b), it may enter judgment on
a counterclaim or crossclaim under Rule 54(b) when it has
jurisdiction to do so, even if the opposing paty® claims
have been dismissed or othevise resolved.

Rule 14. Third-Party Practice

(a) When a Defending Paty May Bring in a Thir d Party.
(1) Timing of the Summons and Complaint. A defending
party may, as third-party plaintif f, seve a summons and
complaint on a nonparty who is or may be liable to it for
all or part of the claim against it. But the third-party
plaintif f must, by motion, obtain the court® leave if it files
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the third-party complaint mor e than 10 days after seving
its original answer.

(2) Third-Party Defendant® Claims and Defenses.

The person seved with the summons and third-party
complaintNthe Othir d-party defendantO:

(A) must asset any defense against the thid-party

plaintif f@ claim under Rule 12;

(B) must assetrany counterclaim against the third-party
plaintif f under Rule 13(a), and may assedrany counter-
claim against the third-party plaintif f under Rule 13(b)

or any crossclaim against another thid-party defendant
under Rule 13(g);

(C) may asset against the plaintiff any defense that the
thir d-party plaintif f has to the plaintiff@ claim; and

(D) may also assetragainst the plaintiff any claim arising
out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject
matter of the plaintif f@ claim against the thid-party
plaintif f.

() Plaintiff@ Claims Against a Third-Party Defendant. The
plaintif f may asset against the third-party defendant any
claim arising out of the transaction or occurrence that is
the subject matter of the plaintiff@ claim against the thiid-
party plaintif f. The third-party defendant must then asser
any defense under Rule 12 and any countetaim under
Rule 13(a), and may assdrany counterclaim under Rule
13(b) or any crossclaim under Rule 13(g).

(4) Motion to Strike, Sever, or Try Separately Any party
may move to strike the third-party claim, to sever it, or to
try it separately
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(5) Third-Party Defendant® Claim Against a Nonparty. A
thir d-party defendant may proceed under this ule against
a nonparty who is or may be liable to the third-party
defendant for all or part of any claim against it.

(6) Third-Party Complaint In Rem. If it is within the
admiralty or maritime jurisdiction, a thir d-party complaint
may be in rem. In that event, a reference in this ule to the
OsummonsO includes the weant of arrest, and a eference
to the defendant or third-party plaintif f includes, when
appropriate, a person who asses a right under
Supplemental Rule C(6)(a)(i) in the poperty arrested.

(b) When a Plaintiff May Bring in a Thir d Party. When a
claim is asseted against a plaintiff, the plaintif f may bring
in a third party if this r ule would allow a defendant to do
S0.

(c) Admiralty or Maritime Claim.

(1) Scope of Impleaderlf a plaintif f assets an admiralty
or maritime claim under Rule 9(h), the defendant or a
person who assets a right under Supplemental Rule
C(6)(a)(i) may, as a third-party plaintif f, bring in a thir d-
party defendant who may be wholly or partly liableN
either to the plaintiff or to the thir d-party plaintif fNfor
remedy over contribution, or other wise on account of the
same transaction, occurence, or series of transactions or
occurrences.

(2) Defending Against a Demand for Judgment for the
Plaintiff. The thir d-party plaintif f may demand judgment
in the plaintif f@ favor against the third-party defendant. In
that event, the third-party defendant must defend under
Rule 12 against the plaintiff@ claim as well as the thid-
party plaintif f@ claim; and the action pioceeds as if the
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plaintif f had sued both the third-party defendant and the
thir d-party plaintif f.

Rule 15. Amended and Supplemental Pleadings

(a) Amendments Befoe Trial.

(1) Amending as a Matter of Course. A paty may amend
its pleading once as a matter of course:

(A) before being seved with a responsive pleading; or
(B) within 20 days after sewving the pleading if a
responsive pleading is not allowed and the action is not yet
on the trial calendar.

(2) Other Amendments. In all other cases, a pay may
amend its pleading only with the opposing paty® written
consent or the cout® leave. The cour should freely give
leave when justice so equires.

(3) Time to Respond. Unless the courorders othemise,
any required response to an amended pleading must be
made within the time remaining to respond to the original
pleading or within 10 days after sewvice of the amended
pleading, whichever is later

(b) Amendments During and After Trial.

(1) Based on an Objection at Tial. If, at trial, a par ty
objects that evidence is not within the issues raised in the
pleadings, the cout may permit the pleadings to be
amended. The cout should freely pemit an amendment
when doing so will aid in presenting the merits and the
objecting party fails to satisfy the court that the evidence
would prejudice that party® action or defense on the
merits. The court may grant a continuance to enable the
objecting party to meet the evidence.
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(2) For Issues Tied by Consent. When an issue not raised
by the pleadings is tried by the patiesO exm@ss or implied
consent, it must be treated in all respects as if raised in the
pleadings. A paty may moveRNat any time, even after
judgmentNto amend the pleadings to conform them to the
evidence and to raise an unpleaded issue. But failarto
amend does not afect the result of the trial of that issue.
(c) Relation Back of Amendments.

(1) When an Amendment Relates Back. An amendment to
a pleading relates back to the date of the original pleading
when:

(A) the law that provides the applicable statute of
limitations allows r elation back;

(B) the amendment assés a claim or defense that aose
out of the conduct, transaction, or occurrence set outNor
attempted to be set outNin the original pleading; or

(C) the amendment changes the pdy or the naming of the
party against whom a claim is asseed, if Rule 15(c)(1)(B)
is satisfied and if, within the period provided by Rule 4(m)
for serving the summons and complaint, the paty to be
brought in by amendment:

(i) received such notice of the action that it will not be
prejudiced in defending on the merits; and

(i) knew or should have known that the action would

have been bought against it, but for a mistake concening
the proper party® identity.

(2) Notice to the United States. When the United States or
a United States oficer or agency is added as a defendant
by amendment, the notice equirements of Rule
15(c)(1)(C)(i) and (ii) are satisfied if, during the stated
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period, process was deliveed or mailed to the United
States attoney or the United States attoney®designee, to
the Attor ney General of the United States, or to the dfcer
or agency

(d) Supplemental Pleadings. On motion and easonable
notice, the court may, on just terms, pemit a party to
sewe a supplemental pleading setting out any transaction,
occurrence, or event that happened after the date of the
pleading to be supplemented. The courmay permit
supplementation even though the original pleading is
defective in stating a claim or defense. The cowmay
order that the opposing paity plead to the supplemental
pleading within a specified time.

Rule 16. Pretrial Confer ences; Scheduling;
Management

(a) Purposes of a Retrial Conference. In any action, the
court may order the attorneys and any unepresented
parties to appear for one or more pretrial conferences for
such purposes as:

(1) expediting disposition of the action;

(2) establishing early and continuing contol so that the
case will not be protracted because of lack of
management;

(3) discouraging wasteful pretrial activities;

(4) improving the quality of the trial thr ough more
thorough preparation; and

(5) facilitating settlement.

(b) Scheduling.

(1) Scheduling Omder. Except in categories of actions
exempted by local wle, the district judgeNor a magistrate
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40 FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

judge when authorized by local uleNmust issue a
scheduling oder:

(A) after receiving the patiesOeport under Rule 26(f); or
(B) after consulting with the partiesO attaneys and any
unrepresented paties at a scheduling confeence or by
telephone, mail, or other means.

(2) Time to Issue. The judge must issue the scheduling
order as soon as practicable, but in any event within the
earlier of 120 days after any defendant has been seed
with the complaint or 90 days after any defendant has
appeared.

(3) Contents of the Order.

(A) Required Contents. The scheduling oder must limit
the time to join other parties, amend the pleadings,
complete discovey, and file motions.

(B) Pemitted Contents. The scheduling oder may:

(i) modify the timing of disclosur es under Rules 26(a) and
26(e)(1);

(i) modify the extent of discovery;

(iii) pr ovide for disclosure or discovey of electronically
stored information;

(iv) include any agreements the paties reach for asseting
claims of privilege or of protection as trial-preparation
material after infor mation is produced;

(v) set dates for petrial conferences and for trial; and
(vi) include other appropriate matters.

(4) Modifying a Schedule. A schedule may be modified
only for good cause and with the judge€consent.

(c) Attendance and Matters for Consideration at a Petrial
Conference.
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(1) Attendance. A represented paty must authorize at least
one of its attorneys to make stipulations and admissions
about all matters that can reasonably be anticipated for
discussion at a petrial conference. If appopriate, the
court may require that a party or its r epresentative be
present or reasonably available by other means to consider
possible settlement.

(2) Matters for Consideration. At any pr etrial conference,
the court may consider and take appopriate action on the
following matters:

(A) for mulating and simplifying the issues, and eliminating
frivolous claims or defenses;

(B) amending the pleadings if necessgror desirable;

(C) obtaining admissions and stipulations about facts and
documents to avoid unnecessar proof, and ruling in
advance on the admissibility of evidence;

(D) avoiding unnecessay proof and cumulative evidence,
and limiting the use of testimony under Federal Rule of
Evidence 702;

(E) detemining the appropriateness and timing of
summary adjudication under Rule 56;

(F) controlling and scheduling discovey, including orders
affecting disclosures and discovey under Rule 26 and
Rules 29 through 37;

(G) identifying witnesses and documents, scheduling the
filing and exchange of any petrial briefs, and setting dates
for fur ther conferences and for trial;

(H) refering matters to a magistrate judge or a master;

(1) settling the case and using special pcedures to assist
in resolving the dispute when authorized by statute or
local rule;

FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

n

2]
I
3]
o
=]
5]
i
@
=
5]
o
2
)
2]
b
(@)




42  FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

(J) detemining the form and content of the pretrial order;
(K) disposing of pending motions;

(L) adopting special procedures for managing potentially
difficult or pr otracted actions that may involve complex
issues, multiple paties, difficult legal questions, or unusual
proof problems;

(M) or dering a separate trial under Rule 42(b) of a claim,
counterclaim, crossclaim, third-party claim, or particular
issue;

(N) or dering the presentation of evidence early in the trial
on a manageable issue that might, on the evidence, be the
basis for a judgment as a matter of law under Rule 50(a)
or a judgment on patrtial findings under Rule 52(c);

(O) establishing a reasonable limit on the time allowed to
present evidence; and

(P) facilitating in other ways the just, speedyand
inexpensive disposition of the action.

(d) Pretrial Or ders. After any conference under this tle,
the court should issue an oder reciting the action taken.
This order controls the course of the action unless the
court modifies it.

(e) Final Prtrial Conference and Oders. The cout may
hold a final pretrial conference to fomulate a trial plan,
including a plan to facilitate the admission of evidence.
The conference must be held as close to the staof trial as
is reasonable, and must be attended by at least one
attorney who will conduct the trial for each party and by
any unrepresented paty. The court may modify the order
issued after a final pretrial conference only to prevent
manifest injustice.
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(f) Sanctions.

(1) In General. On motion or on its own, the court may
issue any just oders, including those authorized by Rule
37(b)(2)(A)(ii)-(vii), if a par ty or its attor ney:

(A) fails to appear at a scheduling or other petrial
conference;

(B) is substantially unprepared to participateNor does not
participate in good faithNin the confer ence; or

(C) fails to obey a scheduling or other petrial order.

(2) Imposing Fees and Costs. Instead of or in addition to
any other sanction, the cout must order the party, its
attorney, or both to pay the reasonable expensesN
including attor ney®feesNincurred because of any
noncompliance with this rule, unless the noncompliance
was substantially justified or other circumstances make an
award of expenses unjust.

Rule 17. Plaintif f and Defendant; Capacity; Public
Officers

(a) Real Paty in Inter est.

(1) Designation in General. An action must be posecuted
in the name of the real party in inter est. The following
may sue in their own names without joining the person for
whose benefit the action is bought:

(A) an executor;

(B) an administrator;

(C) a guardian;

(D) a bailee;

(E) a trustee of an expess tust;

(F) a party with whom or in whose name a contract has
been made for anothe® benefit; and
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44 FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

(G) a party authorized by statute.

(2) Action in the Name of the United States for AnotherOs
Use or Benefit. When a federal statute so vides, an
action for another® use or benefit must be bought in the
name of the United States.

(3) Joinder of the Real Paty in Inter est. The cout may

not dismiss an action for failure to prosecute in the name
of the real party in inter est until, after an objection, a
reasonable time has been allowed for theaal party in
interest to ratify, join, or be substituted into the action.
After ratification, joinder , or substitution, the action
proceeds as if it had been originally commenced by the
real party in inter est.

(b) Capacity to Sue or Be Sued. Capacity to sue or be sued
is detemined as follows:

(2) for an individual who is not acting in a r epresentative
capacity, by the law of the individual® domicile;

(2) for a corporation, by the law under which it was
organized; and

(3) for all other parties, by the law of the state whee the
court is located, except that:

(A) a partnership or other unincorporated association with
no such capacity under that statedaw may sue or be sued
in its common name to enforce a substantive right existing
under the United States Constitution or laws; and

(B) 28 U.S.C. mr 754 and 959(a) goven the capacity of a
receiver appointed by a United States couito sue or be
sued in a United States cour

(c) Minor or Incompetent Person.
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(1) With a Representative. The following representatives
may sue or defend on behalf of a minor or an incompetent
person:

(A) a general guadian;

(B) a committee;

(C) a consewator; or

(D) a like fiduciary.

(2) Without a Representative. A minor or an incompetent
person who does not have a duly appointed epresentative
may sue by a next friend or by a guadian ad litem. The
court must appoint a guardian ad litemRNor issue another
appropriate orderNto pr otect a minor or incompetent
person who is unrepresented in an action.

(d) Public Officer® Title and Name. A public officer who
sues or is sued in an dfcial capacity may be designated by
official title rather than by name, but the court may order
that the officer® name be added.

Rule 18. Joinder of Claims

(a) In General. A party asseting a claim, counterclaim,
crossclaim, or third-party claim may join, as independent
or alternative claims, as many claims as it has against an
opposing party.

(b) Joinder of Contingent Claims. A party may join two
claims even though one of them is contingent on the
disposition of the other; but the court may grant relief
only in accordance with the partiesOelative substantive
rights. In particular, a plaintiff may state a claim for
money and a claim to set aside a conveyance that is
fraudulent as to that plaintif f, without first obtaining a
judgment for the money.
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46  FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

Rule 19. Required Joinder of Parties

(a) Persons Requied to Be Joined if Feasible.

(1) Required Paty. A person who is subject to sevice of
process and whose joinder will not deprive the courof
subject-matter jurisdiction must be joined as a paty if:

(A) in that person® absence, the codrcannot accord
complete relief among existing paties; or

(B) that person claims an inteest relating to the subject of
the action and is so situated that disposing of the action in
the person§absence may:

(i) as a practical matter impair or impede the persorg)
ability to pr otect the interest; or

(i) leave an existing paty subject to a substantial risk of
incurring double, multiple, or other wise inconsistent
obligations because of the inteest.

(2) Joinder by Court Order. If a person has not been
joined as required, the cout must order that the person be
made a paty. A person who refuses to join as a plaintif
may be made either a defendant giin a proper case, an
involuntary plaintif f.

(3) Venue. If a joined partty objects to venue and the
joinder would make venue improper, the court must
dismiss that paty.

(b) When Joinder Is Not Feasible. If a person who is
required to be joined if feasible cannot be joined, the cour
must detemine whether, in equity and good conscience,
the action should proceed among the existing paies or
should be dismissed. The factors for the courto consider
include:
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(1) the extent to which a judgment rendered in the
person®absence might pejudice that person or the
existing parties;

(2) the extent to which any prejudice could be lessened or
avoided by:

(A) protective provisions in the judgment;

(B) shaping the elief; or

(C) other measues;

(3) whether a judgment rendered in the person®absence
would be adequate; and

(4) whether the plaintiff would have an adequate emedy if
the action were dismissed for nonjoinder

(c) Pleading the Reasons for NonjoinderWhen asseting a
claim for relief, a party must state:

(1) the name, if known, of any person who is required to
be joined if feasible but is not joined; and

(2) the reasons for not joining that person.

(d) Exception for Class Actions. This le is subject to
Rule 23.

Rule 20. Permissive Joinder of Parties

(a) Persons Who May Join or Be Joined.

(1) Plaintiffs. Persons may join in one action as plaintifs
if:

(A) they asset any right to r elief jointly, severally or in the
alternative with r espect to or arising out of the same
transaction, occurence, or series of transactions or
occurrences; and

(B) any question of law or fact common to all plaintif fs
will arise in the action.
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48 FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

(2) Defendants. PersonsNas well as a vessel, @, or
other property subject to admiralty process in emNmay
be joined in one action as defendants if:

(A) any right to r elief is asseted against them jointly,
severally or in the alternative with r espect to or arising
out of the same transaction, occurence, or series of
transactions or occurences; and

(B) any question of law or fact common to all defendants
will arise in the action.

(3) Extent of Relief. Neither a plaintif f nor a defendant
need be inteested in obtaining or defending against all the
relief demanded. The cour may grant judgment to one or
more plaintiffs accoding to their rights, and against one
or more defendants accating to their liabilities.

(b) Protective Measures. The cout may issue odersN
including an order for separate trialsNto protect a party
against embarassment, delayexpense, or other pejudice
that arises from including a person against whom the
party assets no claim and who assets no claim against
the party.

Rule 21. Misjoinder and Nonjoinder of Parties
Misjoinder of par ties is not a gound for dismissing an
action. On motion or on its own, the cour t may at any
time, on just terms, add or drop a party. The court may
also sever any claim against a pay.

Rule 22. Interpleader

(a) Grounds.

(1) By a Plaintiff. Persons with claims that may expose a
plaintif f to double or multiple liability may be joined as
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defendants and equired to interplead. Joinder for
interpleader is proper even though:

(A) the claims of the several claimants, or the titles on
which their claims depend, lack a common origin or
are adverse and independent rather than identical; or
(B) the plaintiff denies liability in whole or in part to any
or all of the claimants.

(2) By a Defendant. A defendant exposed to similar
liability may seek interpleader through a crossclaim or
counterclaim.

(b) Relation to Other Rules and Statutes. This ule
supplementsNand does not limitNthe joinder of par ties
allowed by Rule 20. The remedy this wle provides is in
addition toNand does not supersede or limitNthe r emedy
provided by 28 U.S.C. or 1335, 1397, and 2361. An
action under those statutes must be conducted under
these ules.

Rule 23. Class Actions

(a) Prerequisites. One or moe members of a class may
sue or be sued asapresentative paties on behalf of all
members only if:

(1) the class is so numesus that joinder of all members is
impracticable;

(2) there are questions of law or fact common to the class;
(3) the claims or defenses of theapresentative paties

are typical of the claims or defenses of the class; and

(4) the representative paties will fairly and adequately
protect the interests of the class.

(b) Types of Class Actions. A class action may be
maintained if Rule 23(a) is satisfied and if:
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50 FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE

(1) prosecuting separate actions by or against individual
class members would ceate a risk of:

(A) inconsistent or varying adjudications with r espect

to individual class members that would establish
incompatible standards of conduct for the party opposing
the class; or

(B) adjudications with respect to individual class members
that, as a practical matter would be dispositive of the
interests of the other members not paies to the individual
adjudications or would substantially impair or impede
their ability to pr otect their interests;

(2) the party opposing the class has acted orefused to act
on grounds that apply generally to the class, so that final
injunctive relief or corresponding declaratoy relief is
appropriate respecting the class as a whole; or

(3) the court finds that the questions of law or fact
common to class members pedominate over any questions
affecting only individual members, and that a class action
is superior to other available methods for fairly and
efficiently adjudicating the controversy The matters
pertinent to these findings include:

(A) the class membersO inests in individually controlling
the prosecution or defense of separate actions;

(B) the extent and nature of any litigation conceming the
controversy already begun by or against class members;
(C) the desirability or undesirability of concentrating the
litigation of the claims in the particular for um; and

(D) the likely dif ficulties in managing a class action.

(c) Cettification Or der; Notice to Class Members;
Judgment; Issues Classes; Subclasses.
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(1) Certification Or der.

(A) Time to Issue. At an early practicable time after a
person sues or is sued as a classpresentative, the cour
must detemine by order whether to cettify the action as a
class action.

(B) Defining the Class; Appointing Class Counsel. An
order that cettifies a class action must define the class and
the class claims, issues, or defenses, and must appoint class
counsel under Rule 23(g).

(C) Altering or Amending the Order. An order that grants
or denies class ceification may be altered or amended
before final judgment.

(2) Notice.

(A) For (b)(2) or (b)(2) Classes. For any class céfied
under Rule 23(b)(1) or (b)(2), the court may direct
appropriate notice to the class.

(B) For (b)(3) Classes. For any class céfied under Rule
23(b)(3), the court must direct to class members the best
notice that is practicable under the cicumstances,
including individual notice to all members who can be
identified thr ough reasonable €brt. The notice must
clearly and concisely state in plain, easily understood
language:

(i) the nature of the action;

(ii) the definition of the class cettified;

(iii) the class claims, issues, or defenses;

(iv) that a class member may enter an appearance thugh
an attorney if the member so desks;

(v) that the court will exclude fr om the class any member
who requests exclusion;
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(vi) the time and manner for requesting exclusion; and
(vii) the binding effect of a class judgment on members
under Rule 23(c)(3).

(3) Judgment. Whether or not favorable to the class, the
judgment in a class action must:

(A) for any class cetified under Rule 23(b)(1) or (b)(2),
include and describe those whom the courfinds to be
class members; and

(B) for any class cetified under Rule 23(b)(3), include and
specify or describe those to whom the Rule 23(c)(2) notice
was directed, who have not equested exclusion, and
whom the court finds to be class members.

(4) Patticular Issues. When appopriate, an action may be
brought or maintained as a class action with espect to
particular issues.

(5) Subclasses. When appipriate, a class may be divided
into subclasses that ae each teated as a class under this
rule.

(d) Conducting the Action.

(1) In General. In conducting an action under this wule, the
court may issue oders that:

(A) determine the course of poceedings or pescribe
measues to prevent undue epetition or complication in
presenting evidence or agument;

(B) requireNito pr otect class members and fairly conduct
the actionNgiving appr opriate notice to some or all class
members of:

(i) any step in the action;

(i) the proposed extent of the judgment; or
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(iii) the members® oppdunity to signify whether they
consider the epresentation fair and adequate, to intevene
and present claims or defenses, or to othevise come into
the action;

(C) impose conditions on the iepresentative paties or on
intervenors;

(D) require that the pleadings be amended to eliminate
allegations about representation of absent persons and that
the action proceed accodingly; or

(E) deal with similar procedural matters.

(2) Combining and Amending Orders. An order under
Rule 23(d)(1) may be alteed or amended fom time to
time and may be combined with an oder under Rule 16.
(e) Settlement, \dluntary Dismissal, or Compromise. The
claims, issues, or defenses of a déied class may be
settled, voluntarily dismissed, or compiomised only with
the court® approval. The following pr ocedures apply to a
proposed settlement, voluntay dismissal, or compomise:
(1) The court must direct notice in a reasonable manner to
all class members who would be bound by the poposal.
(2) If the proposal would bind class members, the cour
may approve it only after a hearing and on finding that it
is fair, reasonable, and adequate.

(3) The parties seeking appoval must file a statement
identifying any agreement made in connection with the
proposal.

(4) If the class action was peviously cetified under Rule
23(b)(3), the court may refuse to appiove a settlement
unless it afords a new opportunity to r equest exclusion to
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individual class members who had an earlier oppatunity
to request exclusion but did not do so.

(5) Any class member may object to the poposal if it
requires cout approval under this subdivision (e); the
objection may be withdrawn only with the cour t@
approval.

(f) Appeals. A court of appeals may pemit an appeal from
an order granting or denying class-action ceification
under this rule if a petition for per mission to appeal is filed
with the cir cuit clerk within 10 days after the order is
entered. An appeal does not stay poceedings in the district
court unless the district judge or the cout of appeals so
orders.

(g) Class Counsel.

(1) Appointing Class Counsel. Unless a statute mvides
otherwise, a cout that certifies a class must appoint class
counsel. In appointing class counsel, the cotr

(A) must consider:

(i) the work counsel has done in identifying or
investigating potential claims in the action;

(i) counsel®experience in handling class actions, other
complex litigation, and the types of claims asseed in the
action;

(iii) counsel® knowledge of the applicable law; and

(iv) the resources that counsel will commit to representing
the class;

(B) may consider any other matter petinent to counsel®
ability to fairly and adequately represent the inteests of
the class;
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(C) may order potential class counsel to povide

infor mation on any subject petinent to the appointment
and to propose tems for attorney®fees and nontaxable
costs;

(D) may include in the appointing order provisions about
the award of attor ney®fees or nontaxable costs under
Rule 23(h); and

(E) may make further orders in connection with the
appointment.

(2) Standad for Appointing Class Counsel. When one
applicant seeks appointment as class counsel, the cdur
may appoint that applicant only if the applicant is
adequate under Rule 23(g)(1) and (4). If moe than one
adequate applicant seeks appointment, the cotimust
appoint the applicant best able to epresent the inteests of
the class.

(3) Interim Counsel. The court may designate interim
counsel to act on behalf of a putative class befa
detemining whether to certify the action as a class action.
(4) Duty of Class Counsel. Class counsel must fairly and
adequately represent the inteests of the class.

(h) Attor ney® Fees and Nontaxable Costs. In a céfied
class action, the cout may award reasonable attoney®
fees and nontaxable costs that a authorized by law or by
the parties® agrement. The following procedures apply:
(1) A claim for an award must be made by motion under
Rule 54(d)(2), subject to the povisions of this subdivision
(h), at a time the court sets. Notice of the motion must be
sewved on all parties and, for motions by class counsel,
directed to class members in agasonable manner
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(2) A class memberor a party from whom payment is
sought, may object to the motion.

(3) The court may hold a hearing and must find the facts
and state its legal conclusions under Rule 52(a).

(4) The court may refer issues elated to the amount of the
award to a special master or a magistrate judge, as
provided in Rule 54(d)(2)(D).

Rule 23.1. Derivative Actions

(a) Prerequisites. This ule applies when one or moe
shareholders or members of a corporation or an
unincorporated association bring a derivative action to
enforce a right that the corporation or association may
properly asset but has failed to enforce. The derivative
action may not be maintained if it appears that the
plaintif f does not fairly and adequately epresent the
interests of shaeholders or members who ae similarly
situated in enforcing the right of the corporation or
association.

(b) Pleading Requiements. The complaint must be verified
and must:

(1) allege that the plaintiff was a shaeholder or member at
the time of the transaction complained of, or that the
plaintif f@ shae or membership later devolved on it by
operation of law;

(2) allege that the action is not a collusive one to confer
jurisdiction that the court would other wise lack; and

(3) state with particularity:
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(A) any effort by the plaintif f to obtain the desired action
from the directors or comparable authority and, if
necessay, from the shareholders or members; and

(B) the reasons for not obtaining the action or not making
the effort.

(c) Settlement, Dismissal, and Compomise. A derivative
action may be settled, voluntarily dismissed, or
compromised only with the court® approval. Notice of a
proposed settlement, voluntay dismissal, or compiomise
must be given to shaeholders or members in the manner
that the court orders.

Rule 23.2. Actions Relating to Unincorporated
Associations

This rule applies to an action biought by or against the
members of an unincorporated association as a class by
naming cettain members as epresentative paties. The
action may be maintained only if it appears that those
parties will fairly and adequately protect the interests of
the association and its members. In conducting the action,
the court may issue any appopriate orders coresponding
with those in Rule 23(d), and the procedure for settlement,
voluntary dismissal, or compiomise must corespond with
the procedure in Rule 23(e).

Rule 24. Intervention

(a) Intervention of Right. On timely motion, the cour t
must pemit anyone to intervene who:

(1) is given an unconditional right to intervene by a federal
statute; or
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(2) claims an interest relating to the property or
transaction that is the subject of the action, and is so
situated that disposing of the action may as a practical
matter impair or impede the movant® ability to protect its
interest, unless existing paies adequately epresent that
interest.

(b) Pemissive Intewvention.

(1) In General. On timely motion, the court may permit
anyone to intervene who:

(A) is given a conditional right to inter vene by a federal
statute; or

(B) has a claim or defense that shas with the main action
a common question of law or fact.

(2) By a Govemment Officer or Agency. On timely

motion, the court may permit a federal or state
govemmental officer or agency to intervene if a party®
claim or defense is based on:

(A) a statute or executive oder administered by the officer
or agency; or

(B) any regulation, order, requirement, or ageement issued
or made under the statute or executive oder.

(3) Delay or Prejudice. In execising its discretion, the
court must consider whether the intevention will unduly
delay or prejudice the adjudication of the original partiesO
rights.

(c) Notice and Pleading Requied. A motion to inter vene
must be seved on the paties as povided in Rule 5. The
motion must state the giounds for intervention and be
accompanied by a pleading that sets out the claim or
defense for which intevention is sought.
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Rule 25. Substitution of Parties

(a) Death.

(1) Substitution if the Claim Is Not Extinguished. If a
party dies and the claim is not extinguished, the cour
may order substitution of the proper party. A motion

for substitution may be made by any paty or by the
decedentsuccessor or@presentative. If the motion is not
made within 90 days after sewice of a statement noting
the death, the action by or against the decedent must be
dismissed.

(2) Continuation Among the Remaining Patties. After a
party® death, if the right sought to be enfoced suvives
only to or against the remaining parties, the action does
not abate, but proceeds in favor of or against the
remaining patties. The death should be noted on the
record.

(3) Sewice. A motion to substitute, together with a notice
of hearing, must be seved on the paties as povided in
Rule 5 and on nonpatties as povided in Rule 4. A
statement noting death must be sered in the same
manner Sewvice may be made in any judicial district.

(b) Incompetency If a party becomes incompetent, the
court may, on motion, permit the action to be continued
by or against the paity® representative. The motion must
be sexed as povided in Rule 25(a)(3).

(c) Transfer of Interest. If an interest is transfered, the
action may be continued by or against the original paty
unless the cout, on motion, or ders the transfeee to be
substituted in the action or joined with the original party.
The motion must be sewred as povided in Rule 25(a)(3).
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(d) Public Officers; Death or Separation fom Office. An
action does not abate when a public oficer who is a party
in an official capacity dies, resigns, or othewise ceases to
hold office while the action is pending. The oficerOs
successor is automatically substituted as a pgr. Later
proceedings should be in the substituted pay® name, but
any misnomer not affecting the parties® substantial rights
must be disregaded. The cout may order substitution at
any time, but the absence of such an ater does not afect
the substitution.

Rule 26. Duty to Disclose; General Pr ovisions
Governing Discovery

(a) Required Disclosures.

(1) Initial Disclosure.

(A) In General. Except as exempted by Rule 26(a)(1)(B) or
as othemise stipulated or ordered by the cout, a party
must, without awaiting a discovery request, povide to the
other parties:

(i) the name and, if known, the address and telephone
number of each individual likely to have discoverable
infor mationNalong with the subjects of that infor ma-
tionKithat the disclosing par ty may use to suppot its
claims or defenses, unless the use would be solely for
impeachment;

(i) a copyNor a description by category and locationN

of all documents, electonically stored information,

and tangible things that the disclosing paty has in its
possession, custodyor control and may use to suppot its
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claims or defenses, unless the use would be solely for
impeachment;

(iii) a computation of each category of damages claimed
by the disclosing patyNwho must also make available for
inspection and copying as under Rule 34 the documents or
other evidentiary material, unless privileged or potected
from disclosure, on which each computation is based,
including materials bearing on the nature and extent of
injuries suffered; and

(iv) for inspection and copying as under Rule 34, any
insurance ageement under which an insurance business
may be liable to satisfy all or part of a possible judgment
in the action or to indemnify or r eimburse for payments
made to satisfy the judgment.

(B) Proceedings Exempt fom Initial Disclosure. The
following pr oceedings ae exempt from initial disclosure:
(i) an action for review on an administrative record;

(ii) a for feiture action in rem arising from a federal statute;
(iii) a petition for habeas corpus or any other proceeding
to challenge a criminal conviction or sentence;

(iv) an action brought without an attor ney by a person in
the custody of the United States, a state, or a state
subdivision;

(v) an action to enforce or quash an administrative
summons or subpoena;

(vi) an action by the United States to ecover benefit
payments;

(vii) an action by the United States to collect on a student
loan guaranteed by the United States;
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(viii) a proceeding ancillay to a proceeding in another
court; and

(ix) an action to enforce an arbitration award.

(C) Time for Initial Disclosur esNIn General. A party must
make the initial disclosures at or within 14 days after the
partiesO Rule 26(f) confance unless a dferent time is set
by stipulation or court order, or unless a paty objects
during the conference that initial disclosures ae not
appropriate in this action and states the objection in the
proposed discovey plan. In ruling on the objection, the
court must detemine what disclosures, if any are to be
made and must set the time for disclosue.

(D) Time for Initial Disclosur esNFor Parties Seved or
Joined Later A party that is first served or otherwise
joined after the Rule 26(f) conference must make the
initial disclosures within 30 days after being seved or
joined, unless a diferent time is set by stipulation or
court order.

(E) Basis for Initial Disclosure; Unacceptable Excuses.

A party must make its initial disclosures based on the
infor mation then reasonably available to it. A paty is not
excused fom making its disclosures because it has not
fully investigated the case or because it challenges the
sufficiency of another party® disclosues or because
another party has not made its disclosues.

(2) Disclosure of Expert Testimony.

(A) In General. In addition to the disclosures required by
Rule 26(a)(1), a party must disclose to the other paties
the identity of any witness it may use at trial to present
evidence under Federal Rule of Evidence 702, 703, or 705.



FEDERAL RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDUREG3

(B) Written Report. Unless othewise stipulated or ordered
by the coun, this disclosure must be accompanied by a
written r eportNpr epared and signed by the witnessNif the
witness is one etained or specially employed to povide
expert testimony in the case or one whose duties as the
party® employee egularly involve giving expet testimony.
The report must contain:

(i) a complete statement of all opinions the witness will
express and the basis andaasons for them;

(i) the data or other infor mation considered by the
witness in forming them;

(iii) any exhibits that will be used to summarize or support
them;

(iv) the witness®qualifications, including a list of all
publications authored in the previous 10 years;

(v) alist of all other cases in which, during the previous
four years, the witness testified as an expéat trial or by
deposition; and

(vi) a statement of the compensation to be paid for the
study and testimony in the case.

(C) Time to Disclose Expet Testimony. A party must
make these disclosues at the times and in the sequence
that the court orders. Absent a stipulation or a cout order,
the disclosures must be made:

(i) at least 90 days befoe the date set for trial or for the
case to be eady for trial; or

(ii) if the evidence is intended solely to contradict or ebut
evidence on the same subject matter identified by another
party under Rule 26(a)(2)(B), within 30 days after the
other party® disclosue.
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(D) Supplementing the Disclosue. The paties must
supplement these discloswes when equired under Rule
26(e).

(3) Pretrial Disclosures.

(A) In General. In addition to the disclosures required by
Rule 26(a)(1) and (2), a paty must provide to the other
parties and promptly file the following infor mation about
the evidence that it may pesent at trial other than solely
for impeachment:

(i) the name and, if not previously provided, the address
and telephone number of each witnessNseparately
identifying those the party expects to present and those it
may call if the need arises;

(i) the designation of those witnesses whose testimony the
party expects to present by deposition and, if not taken
stenographically a transcript of the pertinent parts of the
deposition; and

(iii) an identification of each document or other exhibit,
including summaries of other evidenceNseparately
identifying those items the paty expects to offer and those
it may offer if the need arises.

(B) Time for Pretrial Disclosures; Objections. Unless the
court orders othemwise, these disclosues must be made at
least 30 days befoe trial. Within 14 days after they are
made, unless the coursets a diferent time, a party may
sewve and promptly file a list of the following objections:
any objections to the use under Rule 32(a) of a deposition
designated by another paty under Rule 26(a)(3)(A)(ii);
and any objection, together with the grounds for it, that
may be made to the admissibility of materials identified
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under Rule 26(a)(3)(A)(iii). An objection not so madeN
except for one under Federal Rule of Evidence 402 or
403Nis waived unless excused by the courfor good
cause.

(4) Form of Disclosures. Unless the courorders othemwise,
all disclosures under Rule 26(a) must be in writing, signed,
and sewved.

(b) Discovery Scope and Limits.

(1) Scope in General. Unless othevise limited by court
order, the scope of discovey is as follows:

Parties may obtain discovey regarding any nonprivileged
matter that is relevant to any pary® claim or defenseN
including the existence, description, natue, custody
condition, and location of any documents or other
tangible things and the identity and location of persons
who know of any discoverable matter For good cause, the
court may order discovel of any matter relevant to the
subject matter involved in the action. Relevant infomation
need not be admissible at the trial if the discovey appears
reasonably calculated to lead to the discoverof
admissible evidence. All discovey is subject to the
limitations imposed by Rule 26(b)(2)(C).

(2) Limitations on Frequency and Extent.

(A) When Pemitted. By order, the court may alter the
limits in these rules on the number of depositions and
interrogatories or on the length of depositions under Rule
30. By order or local rule, the court may also limit the
number of requests under Rule 36.

(B) Specific Limitations on Electonically Stored

Infor mation. A party need not provide discovery of
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electronically stored information from sources that the
party identifies as not reasonably accessible because of
undue burden or cost. On motion to compel discovey or
for a protective order, the party from whom discovety is
sought must show that the information is not reasonably
accessible because of undue bden or cost. If that
showing is made, the cout may nonetheless oder
discovery from such soures if the requesting paty
shows good cause, considering the limitations of Rule
26(b)(2)(C). The court may specify conditions for the
discovery.

(C) When Required. On motion or on its own, the court
must limit the fr equency or extent of discovey otherwise
allowed by these wles or by local rule if it determines that:
(i) the discovery sought is unreasonably cumulative or
duplicative, or can be obtained fom some other souce
that is more convenient, less bulensome, or less
expensive;

(i) the party seeking discovey has had ample oppotunity
to obtain the infor mation by discovely in the action; or
(iii) the burden or expense of the poposed discovey
outweighs its likely benefit, considering the needs of the
case, the amount in contpversy the partiesOesources, the
importance of the issues at stake in the action, and the
importance of the discovey in resolving the issues.

(3) Trial Preparation: Materials.

(A) Documents and Tangible Things. Ordinarily, a party
may not discover documents and tangible things that a&
prepared in anticipation of litigation or for trial by or for
another party or its r epresentative (including the other
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party® attorney; consultant, surety, indemnitor, insurer, or
agent). But, subject to Rule 26(b)(4), those materials may
be discoverd if:

(i) they are othemwise discoverable under Rule 26(b)(1);
and

(i) the party shows that it has substantial need for the
materials to prepare its case and cannot, without undue
hardship, obtain their substantial equivalent by other
means.

(B) Protection Against Disclosure. If the court orders
discovelry of those materials, it must protect against
disclosure of the mental impressions, conclusions,
opinions, or legal theories of a paty® attorney or ot